



CONTENTS

	Page
Condensed Consolidated Income Statement	2
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet	3-4
Condensed Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity	5
Condensed Consolidated Cash Flow Statement	6
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial Statements	7-16
Interim Dividend and Closure of Register of Members	16
Management Discussion and Analysis	17-22
Post Balance Sheet Events	22
Exposure to Fluctuations in Exchange Rates	23
Employee and Remuneration Policies	23
Directors' Interests and Short Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares	24-25
Share Option Scheme	26-27
Substantial Shareholders' and Other Persons' Interests in Shares and Underlying Shares	27-28
Audit Committee	28
Purchase, Redemption or Sale of Listed Securities of The Company	28
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors	28
Remuneration Committee	29
Corporate Governance	29
Compliance with the Chapter 13 of the Listing Rules	29
Acknowledgement	30

INTERIM RESULTS

The Board of Directors (the "Board") of Sino Golf Holdings Limited (the "Company") hereby announces the unaudited condensed consolidated interim results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the "Group") for the six months ended 30 June 2006 which have been reviewed by the Company's audit committee, together with the comparative figures for the six months ended 30 June 2005 as follows:

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

For the six months ended 30 June 2006

For the	six	months
ende	d 30) June

	Notes	2006 (unaudited) <i>HK\$'000</i>	2005 (unaudited) <i>HK\$'000</i>
Revenue	3	282,114	173,820
Cost of sales		(202,355)	(118,095)
Gross profit		79,759	55,725
Other income and gains	4	79,739	5,690
Selling and distribution costs	7	(13,799)	(6,037)
Administrative expenses		(26,913)	(26,904)
Other expenses		(6,450)	(4,784)
Finance costs	5	(9,226)	(4,216)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX	6	24,159	19,474
Tax	7	(958)	(1,562)
PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD		23,201	17,912
ATTRIBUTABLE TO: Equity holders of the parent Minority interests		23,261 (60)	18,613 (701)
		23,201	17,912
EARNINGS PER SHARE Basic	8	HK7.70 cents	HK6.16 cents
DIVIDEND PER SHARE	9	HK3.30 cents	HK3.00 cents

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

30 June 2006

NON-CURRENT ASSETS	Notes	30 June 2006 (unaudited) <i>HK\$</i> '000	31 December 2005 (audited) <i>HK\$'000</i>
Property, plant and equipment Prepaid land lease payments Goodwill		145,138 20,656 25,723	140,379 20,736 25,723
Total non-current assets		191,517	186,838
CURRENT ASSETS Inventories Prepaid land lease payments Trade and bills receivables Prepayments, deposits and other receivables Derivative financial instruments Tax recoverable Cash and cash equivalents	10	134,526 459 33,601 49,893 - - 74,617	123,970 459 27,099 35,052 172 559 79,141
Total current assets		293,096	266,452
CURRENT LIABILITIES Trade and bills payables Other payables and accruals Tax payable Finance lease payable	11	62,259 36,168 2,812 39	45,644 42,387 - 84
Interest-bearing bank borrowings Total current liabilities		139,280 240,558	138,776
NET CURRENT ASSETS		52,538	39,561
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES		244,055	226,399

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET (Continued)

30 June 2006

	Notes	30 June 2006 (unaudited) <i>HK\$'000</i>	31 December 2005 (audited) <i>HK\$'000</i>
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES Interest-bearing bank borrowings Deferred tax liabilities		44,600 3,459	36,950 3,459
Total non-current liabilities		48,059	40,409
NET ASSETS		195,996	185,990
EQUITY Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent Issued capital	12	30,220	30,220
Reserves	12	153,115	141,010
Proposed dividend		9,973	12,088
		193,308	183,318
Minority interests		2,688	2,672
TOTAL EQUITY		195,996	185,990

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the six months ended 30 June 2006

Attributable to equity hol	laers of the i	parent
----------------------------	----------------	--------

		Issued	Share		Asset	Exchange						
		share	premium	Contributed	revaluation	fluctuation	Other	Retained	Proposed		Minority	Total
		capital	account	surplus	reserve	reserve	reserves	profits	dividend	Total	interests	equity
		(Unaudited)										
	Note	HK\$'000										
At 1 January 2005		30,220	57,270	10,564	25,042	1,796	50	33,669	_	158,611	10,697	169,308
Disposal of a subsidiary		_	_	_	(199)	_	_	_	_	(199)	(5.962)	(6,161)
Profit for the period		_	_	_	_	_	_	18,613	_	18,613	(701)	17,912
Proposed interim dividend	9				-			(9,066)	9,066			
At 30 June 2005		30,220	57,270	10,564	24,843	1,796	50	43,216	9,066	177,025	4,034	181,059
At 1 January 2006		30,220	57,270	10,564	24,843	4,125	133	44,075	12,088	183,318	2,672	185,990
Exchange re-alignment		-	-	-	-	(1,183)	-	-	-	(1,183)		(1,183)
Profit for the period Capital contribution of		-	-	-		-	-	23,261	-	23,261	(60)	23,201
minority interests		_	-	_	_			_		-	76	76
2005 final dividend paid		-	-	-	-	_	-	-	(12,088)	(12,088)	-	(12,088)
Proposed interim dividend	9		-		-	Ξ-		(9,973)	9,973	-		
At 30 June 2006		30,220	57,270	10,564	24,843	2,942	133	57,363	9,973	193,308	2,688	195,996

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

For the six months ended 30 June 2006

For the six months ended 30 June

	2006	2005
	(unaudited)	(unaudited)
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
NET CASH INFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES	20,007	346
NET CASH OUTFLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES	(13,053)	(8,147)
NET CASH OUTFLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES	(11,478)	(1,876)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS	(4,524)	(9,677)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period	79,141	84,050
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD	74,617	74,373
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND		
CASH EQUIVALENTS		
Cash and bank balances	74,617	74,373

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Accounting Standard ("HKAS") 34 "Interim Financial Reporting" issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and applicable disclosure requirements of Appendix 16 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Listing Rules"). The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements are consistent with those used in the preparation of the Group's audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2005 except as described below.

In the current period, the Group has applied, for the first time, the following new and revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs", which also include HKASs and Interpretations) issued by the HKICPA that affect the Group and are effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2006.

HKAS 39 Amendment HKAS 39 & HKFRS 4 Amendments HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 The Fair Value Option Financial Guarantee Contracts Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease

There was no material impact on the unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements arising from the application of the above-mentioned HKFRSs.

2. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The following tables present revenue and results by business and geographical segments for the six months ended 30 June 2006.

A. Business segments

_	Golf equipment		Go	lf bag	Elim	inations	Consolidated	
	For the six months		For the	For the six months		For the six months		ix months
	ended	30 June	ended 30 June		ended 30 June		ended 30 June	
	2006	2005	2006	2005	2006	2005	2006	2005
	(unaudited)	(unaudited)	(unaudited)	(unaudited)	(unaudited)	(unaudited)	(unaudited)	(unaudited)
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Segment revenue:								
Sales to external customers	233,910	140,453	46,765	30,019	_	_	280,675	170,472
Rental income	159	260	826	750	_	_	985	1,010
Testing income	8	1,771	-	_	-	-	8	1,771
Toolings charges	446	567	-	-	-	-	446	567
Intersegment revenue	108	3,913	8,677	3,407	(8,785)	(7,320)	-	-
Other income and gains	331	5,421		40			331	5,461
Total	234,962	152,385	56,268	34,216	(8,785)	(7,320)	282,445	179,281
Segment results	30,255	26,406	2,673	(2,945)			32,928	23,461
Laboration of							457	220
Interest income						1.00	457	229
Finance costs						J-155	(9,226)	(4,216)
Profit before tax							24,159	19,474
Tax							(958)	(1,562)
Profit for the period							23,201	17,912

B. Geographical segments

For the six months ended 30 June

2006 (unaudited) <i>HK\$'000</i>	2005 (unaudited) <i>HK\$'000</i>
209,698	125,083
10,174	13,146
27,612	13,579
32,907	14,094
284	4,570
280,675	170,472

Segment revenue: sales to external customers
North America
Europe
Asia (excluding Japan)
Japan
Others

3. REVENUE

Revenue represents the invoiced value of goods sold net of trade discounts and goods returns, which is also Group's turnover, and rental income, testing income and tooling charges earned during the period.

An analysis of revenue is as follows:

For the six months ended 30 June

2006	2005
(unaudited)	(unaudited)
<i>HK\$'0</i> 00	<i>HK\$'000</i>
280,675	170,472
985	1,010
8	1,771
446	567
282,114	173,820

Revenue Turnover:

Sales of goods Rental income Testing income Tooling charges

4. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

For the six months ended 30 June

2006	2005
(unaudited)	(unaudited)
HK\$'000	HK\$'000
457	229
_	1,182
_	2,581
331	1,698
788	5,690

Interest income Handling charges Gain on disposal of a subsidiary Others

5. FINANCE COSTS

For the six months ended 30 June

	ended 30 June	
	2006	2005
	(unaudited)	(unaudited)
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Changes in fair value of interest rate swap contracts	_	(2,093)
Interest expenses on:		
Bank loans	7,501	5,291
Finance leases	2	2
Bank charges	1,723	1,016
Total finance costs	9,226	4,216

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group's profit before tax was determined after charging/(crediting) the following:

For the six months ended 30 June

2006	2005
(unaudited)	(unaudited)
HK\$'000	HK\$'000
7.4	
81	81
6,930	8,882
_	281
(457)	(229)

Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments
Depreciation
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Interest income

7. TAX

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 17.5% (six months ended 30 June 2005: 17.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the period. Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates, based on existing legislation, interpretations and practices in respect thereof.

For the six months ended 30 June

1	2006	2005
١	(unaudited)	(unaudited)
۱	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
۱		
	958	1,562
- 1		

Provision for the period:
Current – Hong Kong profits tax

8. **FARNINGS PER SHARE**

The calculation of basic earnings per share for the period is based on the profit attributable to equity holders of the parent of approximately HK\$23,261.000 (six months ended 30 June 2005; HK\$18.613,000) and the weighted average number of 302,200,000 (six months ended 30 June 2005: 302,200,000) ordinary shares in issue during the period.

The diluted earnings per share amounts for the six months ended 30 June 2006 and 2005 have not been shown as there was no dilutive effect on the basic earnings per share amounts for these periods. The outstanding share options of the Company would not result in the issue of ordinary shares for less than the fair values as their exercise price was above the average market price of the Company's shares during these periods.

9. DIVIDEND PER SHARE

At a meeting of the board of directors held on 15 September 2006, the directors resolved to pay an interim dividend of HK3.30 cents per ordinary share to shareholders (six months ended 30 June 2005: HK3.00 cents).

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 10.

An aged analysis of the Group's trade and bills receivables as at the balance sheet date, based on the date of recognition of sale and net of provision for impairment, is as follows:

	30 June	31 December
	2006	2005
	(unaudited)	(audited)
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Within 3 months	25,568	18,407
4 to 6 months	2,213	2,169
7 to 12 months	1,939	3,187
Over 1 year	3,881	3,336
	33,601	27,099

The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit, except for new customers, where payment in advance is normally required. The credit period granted by the Group is generally between 30 to 90 days from the date of recognition of sale.

Included in the Group's trade and bills receivable as at the balance sheet date is an amount of approximately HK\$278,000 (31 December 2005: HK\$528,000) due from Nikko Bussan Co., Ltd. ("Nikko Bussan (Japan)") arising from transactions carried out in the ordinary course of business of the Group. Takanori Matsuura, a director of the Company, has beneficial interest in Nikko Bussan (Japan). The balance with Nikko Bussan (Japan) is unsecured, interest-free and is repayable within similar credit periods offered by the Group to its major customers.

11. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

An aged analysis of the Group's trade and bills payable as at the balance sheet date, based on the date of receipt of the goods purchased, is as follows:

	30 June	31 December
	2006	2005
	(unaudited)	(audited)
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Within 3 months	50,879	40,419
4 to 6 months	9,703	3,379
7 to 12 months	1,412	1,307
Over 1 year	265	539
	62,259	45,644

SHARE CAPITAL 12.

	30 June 2006 (unaudited) <i>HK\$'000</i>	31 December 2005 (audited) <i>HK\$'000</i>
Authorised: 1,000,000,000 ordinary shares of HK\$0.1 each	100,000	100,000
Issued and fully paid: 302,200,000 ordinary shares of HK\$0.1 each	30,220	30,220

13. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

- (a) At the balance sheet date, the Group had no bills discounted with recourse not provided for in the condensed consolidated interim financial statements (31 December 2005: Nil).
- (b) The Group had a contingent liability in respect of possible future long service payments to employees under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance, with a maximum possible amount of HK\$2,315,000 (31 December 2005: HK\$2,140,000) as at 30 June 2006. The contingent liability has arisen because, at the balance sheet date, a number of current employees have achieved the required number of years of service to the Group in order to be eligible for long service payments under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance if their employment is terminated under certain circumstances. A provision has not been recognised in respect of such possible payments, as it is not considered probable that the situation will result in a material future outflow of resources from the Group.

14. COMMITMENTS

(a) Capital commitments

aupitus communication		
	30 June	31 December
	2006	2005
	(unaudited)	(audited)
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Contracted, but not provided for:		
Land and buildings	3,259	9,893
Plant and machinery	2,762	925
	6,021	10,818
Authorised, but not contracted for:		
Land and buildings	-	6,375
Capital contributions into subsidiaries	87,630	98,679
	87,630	105,054
	93,651	115,872

14. **COMMITMENTS** (Continued)

(b) Operating lease arranagments

(i) As lessor

The Group leases certain of its rented property, machinery and motor vehicle under operating lease arrangements, with leases negotiated for terms ranging from one to three years. The terms of leases generally also require the tenants to pay security deposits.

At the balance sheet date, the Group had total future minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable operating leases with its tenants falling due as follows:

	30 June 2006 (unaudited) <i>HK</i> \$'000	31 December 2005 (audited) HK\$'000
Within one year In the second to fifth years, inclusive	1,755 2,761	1,907 3,611
	4,516	5,518

(ii) As lessee

The Group leases certain of its office properties, production plants, staff quarters and motor vehicle under operating lease arrangements, with leases negotiated with original terms ranging from 1 to 14 years. At the balance sheet date, the Group had total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases falling due as follows:

30 June 31 December

	30 Julie	3 i December
	2006	2005
	(unaudited)	(audited)
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Within one year	6,184	5,461
n the second to fifth years, inclusive	9,168	9,666
After five years	1,836	2,992
	<u> </u>	
	17,188	18,119

15. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) Material transactions with related parties

For the six months ended 30 June

		2006	2005
		(unaudited)	(unaudited)
	Notes	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Purchases of raw materials from			
Nikko Bussan (Japan)	(i)	11	-
Sales of finished goods to			
Nikko Bussan (Japan)	(ii)	3,139	2,263
Tooling charge received from Nikko Bussan (Japan) (iii)	86	-
Rental expenses paid to Progolf Manufacturing Company Limited			
("Progolf") and Oriental Leader Limited	(iv)	720	720
Rental income from Sino Sporting			
Company Limited ("Sino Sporting")	(v)	160	260
Rental expenses paid to Sino Sporting	(v)		66

Notes:

- (i) Takanori Matsuura, a director of the Company, has beneficial interests in Nikko Bussan (Japan). The purchase prices of raw materials were determined between the Group and Nikko Bussan (Japan) on a cost-plus basis.
- (ii) The selling prices of finished goods were based on the agreement between the parties.
- (iii) The tooling charge was based on the agreement between the parties.
- (iv) Chu Chun Man, Augustine ("Augustine Chu"), a director of the Company, has a beneficial interest in Progolf, and Chu Yuk Man, Simon ("Simon Chu"), a director of the Company, has a beneficial interest in Oriental Leader Limited. The rental expenses were determined at rates agreed between the Group and the corresponding related parties based on market rates.
- (v) Augustine Chu, Takanori Matsuura and Simon Chu, the directors of the Company, have beneficial interests in Sino Sporting. The rental rates were based on the agreement between the parties.

15. **RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS** (Continued)

(b) Outstanding balances with related parties

		Due from related parties		Due to related parties	
		30 June	31 December	30 June	31 December
		2006	2005	2006	2005
		(unaudited)	(audited)	(unaudited)	(audited)
	Notes	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Mr. Simon Chu	(i)	687	687	-	-
Mr. Chang Hua Jung	(i)	153	176	-	-
Nikko Bussan (Japan)	(ii)	278	528	-	_

Notes:

- (i) The above balances are included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables under current assets of the condensed consolidated balance sheet. The amount due from Simon Chu bears interest at a rate of 1.5% per annum and is repayable on 31 December 2006. The amount due from Chang Hua Jung is interest-free, of which HK\$101,000 and HK\$52,000 are payable before August 2007 and July 2010, respectively.
- (ii) The amount due from Nikko Bussan (Japan) is included in trade and bills receivables under current assets of the condensed consolidated balance sheet. The balance is unsecured, interest-free and is repayable within similar credit periods offered by the Group to its major customers (Details refer to note 10 of the Notes To Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial Statements).

16. APPROVAL OF THE INTERIM FINANCIAL REPORT

These condensed consolidated interim financial statements were approved and authorized for issue by the board of directors on 15 September 2006.

INTERIM DIVIDEND AND CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The Board declares an interim dividend of HK3.30 cents per ordinary share for the six months ended 30 June 2006 payable to the shareholders whose names appear on the Register of Members of the Company at the close of business on Thursday, 12 October 2006. The Register of Members will be closed from Wednesday, 11 October 2006 to Thursday, 12 October 2006, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be registered. To qualify for the interim dividend, all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company's share registrar in Hong Kong, Tengis Limited at 26th Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen's Road East, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 10 October 2006. The dividend will be paid on or around Friday, 27 October 2006.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

Overview

The successful enhancement of customer portfolio during 2005 laid the foundation for the remarkable growth in sales achieved in the current period. Though materials price hikes have posed some threat on the profit margin, the Group has managed to mitigate the impact by uplifting productivity and incorporating, to the extent feasible, the cost increase into new model prices. Besides, the establishment of businesses with big names also helps strengthen our industry status and provides further opportunity for business expansion.

Overall, the Group's performance for the first half of 2006 has shown a satisfactory rebound from that of the preceding comparative period. The improved performance for the period was a result of the increased orders from major customers whose products were well received in the market. This achievement was partly attributable to the Group's active participation in clients' product development process and our capability to prioritize customers' needs with the provision of value added services. The Group's strategy to persistently invest in research and development has enhanced our competitive advantage and helped generate extra revenue.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

Consolidated revenue for the six months ended 30 June 2006 surged more than 62% to approximately HK\$282,114,000 compared to that of the corresponding period last year. Profit attributable to equity holders of the parent increased by about 25% to approximately HK\$23,261,000 from HK\$18,613,000 of the comparative preceding period. Earnings per share for the period were HK7.70 cents (2005: HK 6.16 cents).

As a result of the substantial increase in sales, gross profit for the first half of 2006 increased by 43% to approximately HK\$79,759,000 compared to that of the corresponding period last year. Notwithstanding the measures adopted by the Group to effectively combat the impact of materials cost increase, the gross profit margin for the first six months of 2006 declined to 28.3% from 32.1% of the comparative preceding period. This was mainly attributable to the increase in direct components purchases that carried only minimal margins in finished products, as well as the application of similar gross profit amount against enlarged sales value due to increase in sales prices.

Other income and gains for the period decreased to approximately HK\$788,000 from HK\$5,690,000 of the comparative preceding period mainly due to a drop in handling charge income and the non-recurring gain on disposal of a subsidiary recorded in the last comparative period.

Selling and distribution costs for the period soared to approximately HK\$13,799,000 from HK\$6,037,000 of the comparative preceding period primarily due to additional commissions incurred against the increased sales. Administrative expenses however remained relatively stable during the period. On the other hand, finance costs for the period increased to approximately HK\$9,226,000 from HK\$4,216,000 of the last comparative period mainly due to increase in both the interest rates and the amount of trade finance utilized.

Overall, profit attributable to equity holders of the parent for the period improved by about 25% to approximately HK\$23,261,000 compared to that of the corresponding preceding period.

GOLF EOUIPMENT BUSINESS

The golf equipment segment continued to constitute the main source and accounted for approximately 83.1% of the Group's revenue for the period. Sales of golf equipment during the first six months of 2006 amounted to approximately HK\$233,910,000, representing a 66.5% increase over that of the comparative preceding period. Of the total golf equipment sales, golf clubs sales accounted for about 75.9% while component sales consisting of club heads, shafts and accessories represented the remaining 24.1%. There has been no material fluctuation in the product mix percentages throughout the years.

During the period, sales of hybrid iron sets launched by the Group's largest customer in the United States continued to prosper. The Group has benefited from its business success and sales to this customer more than doubled the amount of the comparative preceding period, representing approximately 63.3% of the segment sales or 52.7% of the Group's turnover for the current period. Thanks to successful product design and marketing programs, sales to a number of other customers also demonstrated significant growth during the period. Turnover from the top five golf club clients aggregated to approximately HK\$205,638,000, which accounted for about 87.9% of the segment sales or 73.2% of the Group's turnover for the period. With the enhancement of customer portfolio, it is anticipated that the golf equipment segment will continue to develop and grow healthily. The Group has been in regular contact with certain big names to explore new business opportunities. Upon realization of the sales programs with these big names, our customer base is expected to be further broadened to provide extra impetus for sustained growth.

Irrespective that the Group conducts its business through a relatively small number of key customers, we have implemented adequate procedures to safeguard recoverability of the trade debts. Shipments to major customers are insured or factored on non-recourse basis to minimize bad debt risks. Besides, any material delay in payments or non-payments by customers with terms were immediately reported to management for further action. As reported in the 2005 annual report, Huffy Corporation, one of the Group's customers, had its restructuring plan approved at the creditors' meeting and confirmed by the U.S. bankruptcy court in late 2005. Pursuant to Huffy's restructuring plan, the Group will receive a proportionate share of (i) a US\$9 million promissory note which carries interest at 10% p.a. and (ii) the class B common stock of US\$14 million. Taking into account the amount of provision made in 2004 against the debts owed by Huffy Corporation, it was considered that no material provision would further be necessary.

During the period, prices for materials such as graphite further went up and its supply had become even more volatile in the early part of 2006. To ensure uninterrupted production, the Group had to undertake more direct purchase of graphite shafts to supplement any shortfall in the graphite sheet supply. The need to rely more on direct components purchase like graphite shafts had inevitably limited the gross margins of some models. Other materials prices such as titanium have somewhat stabilized during the period. To combat the impact of materials price hikes, the Group pursued to selectively stock up inventories of crucial materials to help stabilize costs and sustain product margins.

Supported by a strong rebound in sales revenue, the golf equipment segment generated a segmental profit of approximately HK\$30.3 million during the period, representing an increase of about 14.8% compared to that of the comparative preceding period. Giving regard to the current order book status, the management maintains a cautious but confident view that the golf equipment segment should perform reasonably well in the second half of 2006.

GOLF BAGS BUSINESS

Revenue of the golf bag segment accounted for approximately 16.9% of the Group's revenue for the period. Sales of golf bags and accessories for the first half of 2006 amounted to approximately HK\$46,765,000, representing an increase of 55.8% over that of the corresponding preceding period. The significant surge in revenue followed the stepping up of productivity of the new golf bag facility and the resumption of business volume foregone during the previous comparative period. During the period, sales to the largest customer nearly quadrupled that of the corresponding preceding period and accounted for about 56.8% of the segment sales or 9.5% of the Group's turnover for the period. Turnover from the top five golf bag clients aggregated to approximately HK\$35,130,000, representing about 75.1% of the segment sales or 12.5% of the Group's turnover for the period. The Japan line products continued to dominate by taking up approximately 65% of the segment sales. It is the strategy of the Group to direct further effort to expand the Japan line products that carry higher average gross margins.

On the other hand, the new SOE compliant golf bag facility has successfully brought additional business to the Group and helped enhanced our competitive advantage over most competitors. Our Group enjoys high reputation in the golf bag industry in which it has been a dominant player serving substantially all the major brand names in the market. The management anticipates that the golf bags business will continue to grow at an uninterrupted pace.

Benefited from the rapid growth of the Japan line products, the golf bags segment recorded a segmental profit of approximately HK\$2.7 million during the first half of 2006 in contrast to a segmental loss of approximately HK\$2.9 million for the comparative preceding period. Major material prices for golf bag production had somewhat stabilized during the period while the energy and overhead costs remained high. To combat the pressure of erosion of profitability due to escalating production costs, the Japan line products that offer higher margins will remain the focus of the segment's future expansion. Taking into account the current order book status, the management feels confident that the golf bag segment will perform reasonably well in the second half of 2006.

GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS

The Group's geographical spread remained relatively stable. Same as prior periods, North America constitutes the largest geographical segment from which approximately 74.7% of the Group's turnover for the period was generated. Other geographical regions including Japan, Europe and other countries accounted for 11.7%; 3.6% and 10% of the Group's total turnover respectively.

As a percentage to the Group's turnover, the North American market remained the core market with sales to this region increasing slightly from 73.3% of the comparative preceding period to 74.7% for the current period. Consequential on the efforts diverted to develop the Japan market, sales to Japan also increased to represent 11.7% of the Group's turnover from 8.3% of the last comparative period. During the period, sales to the geographical regions covering "Europe and others countries" dropped, in terms of percentage to the Group's turnover, from 18.4% of the last comparative period to 13.6%. Despite the decline in its percentage revenue contribution, the monetary amount of sales to "Europe and others countries" increased by approximately HK\$6,775,000 over that of the comparative preceding period.

In monetary perspective, sales to the North American market increased by about 67.6% over that of the comparative preceding period to approximately HK\$209,698,000, which comprised mainly golf clubs and component sales with a minor portion of golf bag sales. On the contrary, sales to the Japan market consisted mostly of golf bags and amounted to approximately HK\$32,907,000 representing an increase of over 1.3 times the amount for the corresponding preceding period. Sales to other geographical regions including Europe and other countries increased by 21.6% to approximately HK\$38,070,000.

It is the Group's strategy to strengthen its position in the North American market that generates the majority of our Group's revenue and profitability. Besides, additional efforts will be expended to further penetrate the Japan market to tap its huge opportunities, while management attention will still be directed to continue develop the geographical regions of Europe and other countries.

PROSPECTS

Despite facing an environment of ever-increasing competition and customers' demand, the golf industry possesses solid foundation to sustain its on-going developments. It has been the Group's mission to provide premium one-stop services to its customers with value added options. It is also our Group's objective to continually expand our capability to play a leading role in the golf sector. The successful enhancements of customer portfolio and product quality are signs that we are progressing towards our goals.

To cope with the growing needs of customers, the Group has engaged in constructing a new advanced golf club facility in Shandong Province, the P.R.C. which is targeted for completion towards the end of the year. At 30 June 2006, total investments in this project aggregated to approximately HK\$46.6 million, comprising a land premium of approximately HK\$14.8 million and construction payments of approximately HK\$31.8 million. Further costs to completion are estimated at about HK\$18 million and will be financed by internal funding. The new golf club facility will be a milestone of the Group's development, reaffirming our capability to undertake business with the big names and our leading role in the golf industry. Motivated by the satisfactory progress of existing business, our Group has

been actively liaising with some first tier brand names for business opportunities. There are clear indications of their interests to explore potential co-operations with the Group. Considering the competitive advantages of our Group, the management feels confident of adding new big names to the Group's golf club portfolio in the foreseeable future.

On the other hand, the SOE compliant status of the golf bag facility has provided us with the platform necessary for doing business with the major brand names. Currently, our Group takes golf bag orders from substantially all the big names in the market. In particular, the potential for the Japan line products is considered huge, as there are only few manufacturers that are SOE compliant and are recognized as qualified suppliers by the top brands. In order to ease the production burden arising from the increased demand for golf bags, the Group has rented additional spaces of approximately 12,000 square meters nearby its existing facility to provide extra production capacity and to eliminate the need for subcontracting out works.

To sustain long-term growth, the Group is devoted to continually enhance its competitiveness with emphasis on continued development in materials innovations, design capability and customer services. The North American market and the Japanese market represent the two key geographical regions to which the Group diverts most of its resources. Supported by a strong position in the golf bag sector of the Japanese market, our Group is committed to further explore and develop the golf equipment business in the Japanese market. On the other hand, with the synergies which are derivable from the golf club sales network, the Group is also engaged to divert more resources to actively develop the golf bags business in the North American market. The actual performance of the Group is however dependent on the extent of realization of business plans and targets envisaged, as well as the outcome of market operations and changes that may occur from time to time.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group pursues prudent principles to set polices for the management of its funds. Our Group generally relies on internally generated funds and banking facilities to finance its operations. To limit the exposure to various financial risks, the Group has established effective policies and guidelines to help monitor and confine those risks within acceptable ranges.

At 30 June 2006, cash and cash equivalents, which were mostly denominated in United States dollars and Hong Kong dollars, amounted to approximately HK\$74.6 million (31 December 2005: HK\$79.1 million) The cash level decreased mainly because funds have been appropriated as planned for the construction of the new golf club facility. Besides, the Group also selectively stocked up inventory items to stabilize costs and ensure uninterrupted production. The inventory level thus increased by about HK\$10.6 million to approximately HK\$134.5 million as at 30 June 2006.

Borrowings of the Group are mostly denominated in currencies of Hong Kong dollars and United States dollars and carry interest on HIBOR or LIBOR plus basis. Borrowings (excluding finance lease payables) as at 30 June 2006 aggregated to approximately HK\$183.9 million (31 December 2005: HK\$175.8 million), of which approximately HK\$139.3 million (31 December 2005: HK\$138.8 million) comprising import and export loans of about HK\$73.1 million (31 December 2005: HK\$26.6 million) and term loans of about HK\$66.2 million (31 December 2005: HK\$112.2 million) is repayable within one year. The level of borrowings escalated mainly due to higher utilization of import and export facilities to finance the increased business volume. Gearing ratio as at 30 June 2006, defined as total bank borrowings and finance lease payable less cash and cash equivalents of approximately HK\$109.3 million divided by shareholders' equity of approximately HK\$196.0 million, was 55.8% (31 December 2005: 51.9%). The gearing ratio increased as a result of the increase in net bank borrowings.

As at 30 June 2006, the net asset value of the Group was approximately HK\$196.0 million (31 December 2005: HK\$186.0 million). Current and quick ratios stayed at 1.22 (31 December 2005: 1.17) and 0.66 (31 December 2005: 0.63) respectively. There has been no material fluctuation in both ratios, which are considered to be at reasonable levels.

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

- (1) Subsequent to the balance sheet date in August 2006, the Company granted a total of 4,000,000 share options to a director and a business consultant of the Company pursuant to the Company's share option scheme. The share options will be vested upon the commencement of the exercise period and are exercisable by the grantees from the date of grant until 31 July 2008 both days inclusive at an initial exercise price of HK\$0.70 per ordinary share, which is subject to adjustment in the case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company's share capital. The closing price of the Company's shares immediately before the grant date was HK\$0.68 per ordinary share.
- (2) With much regret, Mr. Takanori Matsuura, one of the founders of the Group and an executive director of the Company, passed away on 13 August 2006. No appointment has been made to fill the vacancy left over by Mr. Matsuura.
- (3) On 21 August 2006, the Company announced that Ms. Choi Ying, Kammy had tendered her resignation notice as company secretary and qualified accountant of the Company and financial controller of the Group for personal reasons. With effect from 25 August 2006, Mr. Co Man Kwong, Rochester has been appointed to take up the vacancy of the company secretary and qualified accountant of the Company. Besides, Mr. Mak Yat Ho, Humphrey, the deputy financial controller of the Group, has been assigned to take up responsibilities of Ms. Choi as financial controller of the Group temporarily until the new appointment of financial controller of the Group.

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATIONS IN EXCHANGE RATES

The Group has limited exposure to exchange rates fluctuations as most of the business transactions were conducted in the currency of the United States dollars, Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi, all of which remained relatively stable during the period.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

At 30 June 2006, the Group employed a total of over 3,200 employees in Hong Kong, the PRC and the United States. It is the Group's policy to maintain harmonious relations with its employees through provision of competitive remuneration packages and training programs. The employees were remunerated based on their performance, experience and expertise as well as industrial practices. The remuneration packages are reviewed annually and discretionary bonuses may be awarded to employees in accordance with the assessment of individual performance.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

At 30 June 2006, the interests and short positions of the directors in the issued share capital and share options of the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the "SFO")), as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Stock Exchange") pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the "Model Code"), were as follows:

(i) Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company

	Nu	mber of shares h	eld			of share options held
Name of directors	Directly beneficially owned	Through spouse or minor children	Through controlled corporation#	Total	Percentage of the Company's issued share capital	Directly beneficially owned
Executive directors:						
CHU Chun Man, Augustine MATSUURA Takanori	263	1,000,000	171,543,775	172,544,038	57.10%	3,000,000
(deceased on 13 August 2006)	1,155,400	_	-	1,155,400	0.38%	3,000,000
CHU Yuk Man, Simon	636,237	-	-	636,237	0.21%	3,000,000
CHANG Hua Jung	456,793			456,793	0.15%	
	2,248,693	1,000,000	171,543,775	174,792,468		9,000,000

Number

The shares of the Company are held by CM Investment Company Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, of which, approximately 67.46% of its issued share capital are owned by A & S Company Limited, approximately 26.32% of its issued share capital are owned by Matsuura Takanori, approximately 4.18% of its issued share capital are owned by Chu Chun Man, Augustine and approximately 1.21% of its issued share capital are owned by Chu Yuk Man, Simon. A & S Company Limited is a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and owned as to approximately 64.00% by Chu Chun Man, Augustine, approximately 21.71% by Chu Yuk Man, Simon and 14.29% by another family member. The interests of Chu Chun Man, Augustine, Matsuura Takanori and Chu Yuk Man, Simon, in the 171,543,775 shares of the Company therefore duplicate with those of CM Investment Company Limited and A & S Company Limited.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES (Continued)

(ii) Long positions in ordinary and non-voting deferred shares of associated corporations

Name of director	Name of associated corporation	Relationship with the Company	Shares/equity derivatives	Numbers of shares/equity derivatives held	Capacity and nature of interest	the associated corporation's issued non-voting deferred share capital
CHU Chun Man, Augustine	Sino Golf Manufacturing Company Limited	Company's subsidiary	Non-voting deferred shares	1,190,607	Directly beneficially owned	30.98%
MATSUURA Takanori (deceased on 13 August 2006)	Sino Golf Manufacturing Company Limited	Company's subsidiary	Non-voting deferred shares	1,841,323	Directly beneficially owned	47.92%
CHU Yuk Man, Simon	Sino Golf Manufacturing Company Limited	Company's subsidiary	Non-voting deferred shares	414,297	Directly beneficially owned	10.78%
CHANG Hua Jung	Sino Golf Manufacturing Company Limited	Company's subsidiary	Non-voting deferred shares	3,600	Directly beneficially owned	0.09%

In addition to the above, a director has non-beneficial personal equity interests in a subsidiary of the Company held for the benefit of the Group solely for the purpose of complying with the minimum company membership requirements.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2006, none of the directors had registered an interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company or any of its associated corporations that was required to be recorded pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 7 August 2002, a share option scheme (the "Share Option Scheme") was adopted by the Company to comply with the amendments of the Listing Rules regarding share option schemes of a company.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success of the Group's operations. Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme include any employee (whether full time or part time), executive or officer of the Company or any of its subsidiaries (including executive and non-executive directors of the Company or any of its subsidiaries) and any business consultants, agents and legal or financial advisers, who, in the sole discretion of the board of directors of the Company, will contribute or have contributed to the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries. The Share Option Scheme became effective on 7 August 2002 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that date.

The following share options were outstanding under the Share Option Scheme during the period:

Name or category of participant	Number of share options At 1 January and 30-Jun-06	Date of grant of share options *	Exercise period of share options	Exercise price of share options **
Directors				
CHU Chun Man, Augustine	3,000,000	24 December 2003	29 December 2003 to 31 December 2006	1.51
CHU Yuk Man, Simon	3,000,000	24 December 2003	29 December 2003 to 31 December 2006	1.51
MATSUURA Takanori (deceased on 13 August 2006)	3,000,000	24 December 2003	29 December 2003 to 31 December 2006	1.51
Other employees				
In aggregate	1,100,000	9 June 2005	4 July 2005	0.83
Others			to 8 June 2007	
In aggregate	8,280,000	24 December 2003	29 December 2003 to 31 December 2006	1.51
	18,380,000			

^{*} The vesting period of the share options is from the date of grant until the commencement of the exercise period.

^{**} The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company's share capital.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

At the balance sheet date, the Company had 18,380,000 share options outstanding under the Share Option Scheme, which represented approximately 6.1% of the Company's shares in issue as at that date. The exercise in full of the remaining share options would, under the present capital structure of the Company, result in the issue of 18,380,000 additional ordinary shares of the Company and additional share capital of HK\$1,838,000 and share premium of HK\$25,168,000 (before issue expenses).

No expense relating to the share option scheme has been recognised in the condensed consolidated income statement for the period as there was no share option granted during the period.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER PERSONS' INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

At 30 June 2006, the following interests of 5% or more of the issued share capital and share options of the Company were recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions:

Name	Notes	Capacity and nature of interest	Number of ordinary shares held	Percentage of the Company's issued share capital	Number of share options held
CM Investment Company Limited		Directly beneficially owned	171,543,775	56.76%	-
A & S Company Limited	(a)	Through a controlled corporation	171,543,775	56.76%	-
Hung Tze Nga, Cathy Hung Tze Nga, Cathy	(b)	Through spouse Directly beneficially owned	171,544,038	56.77% 0.33%	3,000,000
			172,544,038	57.10%	3,000,000
Webb David Michael Webb David Michael	(c)	Directly beneficially owned Through a controlled corporation	2,022,000 13,132,000	0.67% 4.35%	-
			15,154,000	5.02%	

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER PERSONS' INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES (Continued)

Long positions: (Continued)

Notes:

- (a) The interest disclosed includes the shares owned by CM Investment Company Limited. CM Investment Company Limited is held directly as to 67.46% by A & S Company Limited. Accordingly, A & S Company Limited is deemed to be interested in shares owned by CM Investment Company Limited.
- (b) Hung Tze Nga, Cathy is the spouse of CHU Chun Man, Augustine. Accordingly, Hung Tze Nga, Cathy is deemed to be interested in shares and share options owned by CHU Chun Man, Augustine.
- (c) The interest disclosed includes the shares owned by Preferable Situation Assets Limited. Preferable Situation Assets Limited is held directly as to 100% by Webb David Michael who reported the interest in shares owned by Preferable Situation Assets Limited as deemed interest.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2006 no person, other than the directors of the Company, whose interests are set out in the section "Directors' interests and short positions in shares and underlying shares" above, had registered an interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company that was required to be recorded pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company was established in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules for the purpose of reviewing and providing supervision over the Group's financial reporting process and internal controls.

The audit committee comprises three independent non-executive directors of the Company, namely Ms. Chiu Lai Kuen, Susanna, (the committee's chairman), Mr. Choy Tak Ho, and Mr. Tse Ying Man. The audit committee has reviewed the Company's unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements for the six months ended 30 June 2006.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company's listed securities during the period.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the Company's code of conduct for dealings in securities of the Company by the directors. Upon specific enquiry, all directors of the Company have confirmed that they have complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code throughout the six months ended 30 June 2006.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a remuneration committee with written terms of reference pursuant to the provisions set out in the Code on Corporate Governance Practices contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules. The committee comprises three independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. Tse Ying Man, Mr. Choy Tak Ho and Ms. Chiu Lai Kuen, Susanna and two executive directors, namely Mr. Chu Chun Man, Augustine and Mr. Chu Yuk Man, Simon. Mr. Tse Ying Man is the chairman of the remuneration committee. The remuneration committee is principally responsible for formulating and making recommendation to the Board on the Group's policy and structure for all remuneration of the directors of the Company and senior management of the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has complied with the Code on Corporate Governance Practices as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules throughout the six months ended 30 June 2006 except the following deviations:

- 1. Mr. Chu Chun Man, Augustine, who acts as the chairman of the Company, is also responsible for overseeing the general operations of the Group. The Company does not at present have any office with the title "Chief Executive Officer". The Board believes that vesting the roles of both Chairman and Chief Executive Officer in the same person provides the Company with strong and consistent leadership and allows for effective and efficient planning and implementation of business decisions and strategies.
 - The Board considers that the current structure of vesting the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer in the same person will not impair the balance of power and authority between the Board and the management of the Company.
- 2. The Independent Non-Executive Directors ("INEDs") have not been appointed for any specific terms as they are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the Company's annual general meeting in accordance with the Company's Bye Laws. It is the intention of the Board to establish specific terms of appointment on or before the next annual general meeting.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CHAPTER 13 OF THE LISTING RULES

As at 30 June 2006, the Group had loan facilities, which were subject to, inter alias, a specific performance obligation on the controlling shareholders of the Company during the tenure of such loan facilities. The specific performance obligation is that the controlling shareholders shall maintain a holding of no less than 51% in one case and 40% in another case of the total issued share capital of the Company throughout the tenure of the loan facilities granted to the Group. A breach of the obligation will constitute an event of default. As a result of such breach, the loan facilities may become due and repayable on demand by the relevant tenders according to the respective terms and conditions thereof. The details of the loan facilities are as follows:

Amount outstanding as at 30 June 2006

Final maturity of the loan facilities

HK\$8 million HK\$13.8 million February 2007 October 2007

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I would like to take this opportunity to extend my thanks and appreciation to our colleagues on the Board, the management and all staff and employees of the Group for their commitments, hard work and loyalty throughout the period.

By order of the Board **Chu Chun Man, Augustine** *Chairman*

Hong Kong, 15 September 2006

As at the date hereof, the board of directors of the Company comprises 6 directors, of which 3 are Executive Directors, namely Mr. CHU Chun Man, Augustine, Mr. CHU Yuk Man, Simon and Mr. CHANG Hua Jung, and the rest of 3 are Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely Mr. CHOY Tak Ho, Ms. CHIU Lai Kuen, Susanna and Mr. TSE Ying Man.